Demokratie, Sicherheit, Frieden Democracy, Security, Peace

224

Ulrich Kühn

The Rise and Fall of Cooperative Arms Control in Europe



Nomos

| Demokratie, Sicherheit, Frieden |
|---|
| Democracy, Security, Peace |
| |
| edited by Prof. Dr. Ursula Schröder |
| DSP Volume 224 |
| |
| |
| |
| A publication of the Institute for Peace Research |
| and Security Policy at the University of Hamburg |
| |

| Ulrich Kühn |
|--------------------------|
| The Rise and Fall of |
| Cooperative Arms Control |
| in Europe |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| Nomos |

The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at http://dnb.d-nb.de

ISBN 978-3-8487-6207-1 (Print) 978-3-7489-0323-9 (ePDF)

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

ISBN 978-3-8487-6207-1 (Print) 978-3-7489-0323-9 (ePDF)

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Kühn, Ulrich The Rise and Fall of Cooperative Arms Control in Europe Ulrich Kühn 414 pp. Includes bibliographic references.

ISBN 978-3-8487-6207-1 (Print) 978-3-7489-0323-9 (ePDF)



Onlineversion Nomos eLibrary

1st Edition 2020

© Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft, Baden-Baden, Germany 2020. Printed and bound in Germany.

This work is subject to copyright. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or any information storage or retrieval system, without prior permission in writing from the publishers. Under § 54 of the German Copyright Law where copies are made for other than private use a fee is payable to "Verwertungsgesellschaft Wort", Munich.

No responsibility for loss caused to any individual or organization acting on or refraining from action as a result of the material in this publication can be accepted by Nomos or the author.

For there is no durable treaty which is not founded on reciprocal advantage, and indeed a treaty which does not satisfy this condition is no treaty at all, and is apt to contain the seeds of its own dissolution.

François de Callieres, On the Manner of Negotiating With Princes (1716), translated by A. F. Whyte (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1919), pp. 109-10

Political action must be based on a coordination of morality and power.

Edward Hallett Carr, The Twenty Years' Crisis: 1919-1939. An Introduction to the Study of International Relations (London: MacMillan, 1939), p. 97

The only remedy for a strong structural effect is a structural change.

Kenneth Neal Waltz, Theory of International Politics (Reading: Addison-Wesley, 1979), p. 111

Table of Contents

| Ackno | wiedgements | 11 |
|---------|--|----|
| Abbrev | viations | 12 |
| List of | Charts and Tables | 14 |
| Prolog | ue | 20 |
| 1 | Introduction | 23 |
| 1.1 | Focus of the Book | 24 |
| 1.2 | Why Focus on Cooperative Arms Control in Europe? | 24 |
| 1.3 | Shortcomings of Previous Research | 26 |
| 1.3.1 | Fuzzy Terminology | 26 |
| 1.3.2 | Theoretical References without Evidence | 27 |
| 1.3.3 | Incomplete Theoretical Research | 28 |
| 1.4 | Definitions of Key Terms | 29 |
| 1.4.1 | Cooperative Security | 30 |
| 1.4.2 | Arms Control | 31 |
| 1.4.3 | Europe | 32 |
| 1.4.4 | Cooperative Arms Control in Europe | 33 |
| 1.4.5 | Institutions and Regimes | 33 |
| 1.5 | The Theoretical Basis | 34 |
| 1.5.1 | Realism | 35 |
| 1.5.2 | Regime Theory | 35 |
| 1.5.3 | Security Communities, the English School, and | |
| | Constructivist Analyses | 36 |
| 1.6 | Methodology | 36 |
| 1.6.1 | A Realist Model of International Cooperation | 37 |
| 1.6.2 | First Abductive Test | 37 |
| 1.6.3 | Second Abductive Test | 38 |
| 1.6.4 | Comparison with Other Theories | 38 |
| 2 | International Cooperation from a Realist Viewpoint | 39 |
| 2.1 | Introductory Remarks | 39 |
| 2.2 | Realism and the Problem of International Cooperation | 41 |
| 2.2.1 | States' Relative-Gains Concern | 44 |
| 2.2.2 | The Consequences of States' Relative-Gains Concern | 46 |
| 2.2.3 | States' Rationality to Cheat | 48 |
| 2.2.4 | The Consequences of States' Rationality to Cheat | 49 |
| | | |

| 2.3 | A Realist Model of International Cooperation | 54 |
|-------|---|-----|
| 2.3.1 | Clarifying Realist Means and Ends | 54 |
| 2.3.2 | Capabilities | 56 |
| 2.3.3 | Interests | 58 |
| 2.3.4 | Expectations | 59 |
| 2.3.5 | Strategies | 60 |
| 2.3.6 | Evaluation of Gains | 63 |
| 2.4 | Conclusions | 66 |
| 3 | Cooperative Arms Control in Europe, 1973-2014 | 67 |
| 3.1 | Introductory Remarks | 67 |
| 3.2 | Genesis and Change, 1973-1989 | 69 |
| 3.2.1 | Analysis of Cooperation | 70 |
| 3.3 | Convergence and Realization, 1990-1994 | 81 |
| 3.3.1 | Analysis of Cooperation | 84 |
| 3.4 | Adaptation and Re-Adjustment, 1995-1999 | 95 |
| 3.4.1 | Analysis of Cooperation | 98 |
| 3.5 | Stagnation and Regress, 2000-2008 | 108 |
| 3.5.1 | Analysis of Cooperation | 112 |
| 3.6 | Reset and Repair, 2009-2011 | 119 |
| 3.6.1 | Analysis of Cooperation | 121 |
| 3.7 | Crisis and Confrontation, 2012-2014 | 129 |
| 3.7.1 | Analysis of Policies | 131 |
| 3.8 | Conclusions | 138 |
| 3.8.1 | Capabilities | 138 |
| 3.8.2 | Interests | 143 |
| 3.8.3 | Expectations | 145 |
| 3.8.4 | Strategies | 146 |
| 3.8.5 | Evaluation of Gains | 146 |
| 3.8.6 | Institutionalization | 148 |
| 3.8.7 | Decay | 152 |
| 4 | Regime Theory and the Empirical Evidence | 154 |
| 4.1 | Introductory Remarks | 154 |
| 4.2 | The Concept of Regime | 155 |
| 4.2.1 | Definitions of Regimes | 157 |
| 4.2.2 | Security Regimes | 159 |
| 4.2.3 | Regime Complexes | 160 |
| 4.3 | Regime Creation and Maintenance | 162 |
| 4.3.1 | Neoliberal Approaches | 162 |
| 4.3.2 | Constructivist Approaches | 165 |
| 4.4 | Regime Decay: In Search of Indicators | 166 |

| 4.4.1 | Signs of Decay | 167 |
|-------|--|-----|
| 4.4.2 | Reasons for Decay | 167 |
| 4.4.3 | Complexity Decay | 169 |
| 4.5 | Of Dragons and Fireflies: Regime Critique and Apologia | 170 |
| 4.5.1 | Five Dragons | 170 |
| 4.5.2 | Where the Dragons Came From | 172 |
| 4.6 | Regime Theory and the Empirical Evidence | 173 |
| 4.6.1 | Definitions of Regimes and the Empirical Evidence | 173 |
| 4.6.2 | Regime Creation and Maintenance and the Empirical | |
| | Evidence | 176 |
| 4.6.3 | Regime Decay and the Empirical Evidence | 178 |
| 4.7 | Conclusions | 182 |
| | | |
| 5 | A First Abductive Test | 184 |
| 5.1 | Introductory Remarks | 184 |
| 5.2 | Agreements, Period 1975-1989 | 186 |
| 5.3 | Agreements, Period 1990-1994 | 192 |
| 5.4 | Agreements, Period 1995-1999 | 214 |
| 5.5 | Agreements, Period 2000-2014 | 229 |
| 5.6 | Preliminary Assessment of the Four Periods, 1975-2014 | 243 |
| 6 | Assessment of the First Abductive Test's Results | 247 |
| 6.1 | Assessment I: Successful Multi-Regime Creation | 247 |
| 6.2 | Assessment II: Densification to Complexity | 251 |
| 6.3 | Assessment III: A Complex in Decay | 256 |
| 6.4 | Conclusions | 264 |
| 7 | A Second Abductive Test | 266 |
| 7.1 | Introductory Remarks | 266 |
| 7.2 | Statements, Period 1990-1994 | 268 |
| 7.3 | Statements, Period 1995-1999 | 276 |
| 7.4 | Statements, Period 2000-2008 | 281 |
| 7.5 | Statements, Period 2009-2011 | 292 |
| 7.6 | Statements, Period 2012-2014 | 296 |
| 7.7 | Assessment of the Second Abductive Test's Results | 300 |
| 7.8 | Conclusions | 306 |

| 8 | Security Communities, the English School, | |
|--------|--|-----|
| | and Constructivist Analyses | 311 |
| 8.1 | Introductory Remarks | 311 |
| 8.2 | Security Communities | 313 |
| 8.2.1 | Essentials of Security Communities | 314 |
| 8.2.2 | Analysis and Application | 317 |
| 8.3 | The English School | 320 |
| 8.3.1 | Essentials of the English School | 321 |
| 8.3.2 | Analysis and Application | 325 |
| 8.4 | Constructivist Analyses of Norm Dynamics | 330 |
| 8.4.1 | Norm Dynamics: Essentials of Constructivist Analyses | 331 |
| 8.4.2 | Analysis and Application | 334 |
| 8.5 | Conclusions | 338 |
| 9 | Summary and Conclusions | 344 |
| 9.1 | Summary | 344 |
| 9.1.1 | The Regime Complex | 345 |
| 9.1.2 | Explaining Decay | 348 |
| 9.2 | Conclusions | 356 |
| 9.2.1 | Theoretical Conclusions | 356 |
| 9.2.2 | Political Conclusions | 359 |
| Epilog | ue | 363 |
| Annex | 1 \ 1 / | 366 |
| Annex | II: List of Agreements Reviewed | 378 |
| Annex | | 380 |
| Annex | IV: References | 383 |

Acknowledgements

This book is the result of ten years of intense and often interrupted periods of hard labor, scientific nomadic existence, and the final homecoming to where it all began in 2009. There are many persons whom I owe my gratitude for their steadfast support during this important decade and in the process of forging this volume, which directly builds on my PhD thesis. I apologize for my incapacity to those that I forgot to mention here.

Above all, I want to thank my parents to whom I am deeply indebted for their endless love, their unalterable patience, and their continuous support. No less, I want to thank my wife Mona for her unshakable love, her belief in me, and for making me a better man – every day a little bit. This book is most of all a dedication to my parents' and Mona's personal qualities that have shaped my way of thinking and living.

Further on, I want to thank Wolfgang Zellner who persuaded me to follow the academic path; Michael Brzoska for his thoughtful guidance and knowledgeable advice on my PhD thesis, Götz Neuneck for giving me the opportunity to work on arms control; Michael Staack for his trust in my abilities; Catherine Kelleher who would always support my various endeavors no matter what; James Acton for reminding me that besides scientific rigor, scholars should speak truth to power; Tristan Volpe for one of the most fruitful partnerships I entered thus far; Laura Rockwood and Elena Sokova for bringing me back to Europe; and to Susanne Bund for her love of detail when checking the galleys.

Further on, I am deeply indebted to the Evangelisches Studienwerk e.V. Villigst and IFSH for paying my PhD bills; the Stanton Foundation for gratuitously allowing me to better understand the "Washington bubble;" and the John D. und Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation for helping me bridge a crucial period in my life by focusing on my home country.

This book is dedicated to my beloved aunt Christel and my uncle Werner whom I miss.

Hamburg, 2019

Abbreviations

ABM Anti-Ballistic Missile Treaty
ACFE Agreement on Adaptation of CFE

A/CFE meaning the CFE Treaty and the Agreement on Adaptation

of CFE

AIAM Annual Implementation Assessment Meeting

APEC Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation

ATTU Atlantic to the Urals

CAC Conventional Arms Control in Europe

CBM Confidence-Building Measures

CDE Conference on CSBMs and Disarmament in Europe
CFE Treaty on Conventional Armed Forces in Europe

CFE-1A Concluding Act of the Negotiation on Personnel Strength of

CFE

CIA Central Intelligence Agency

CIS Commonwealth of Independent States

C/OSCE Meaning CSCE and OSCE
COW Correlates of War Index
CPC Conflict Prevention Centre

CSBM Confidence- and Security-Building Measures

CSCE Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe

CST Treaty on Collective Security

CSTO Collective Security Treaty Organization CTBT Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty

EAPC Euro-Atlantic Partnership Council

EC European Community

EPAA European Phased Adaptive Approach

ES English School

ESDP European Security and Defense Policy

EST European Security Treaty (Medvedev initiative of 2009)

EU European Union

FSC Forum for Security Co-operation

GDP Gross Domestic Product GNP Gross National Product

GOP Grand Old Party (Republican Party)

G8 Group of Eight (see also G6, G7, and G20)

IDP Internally Displaced Person

IFSH Institute for Peace Research and Security Policy Hamburg

IGO Intergovernmental Organization

IISS International Institute for Strategic Studies

IMF International Monetary Fund

INF Intermediate-Range Nuclear Forces

IO International Organization IR International Relations

JCC Joint Consultative Commission MAD Mutual Assured Destruction

MANPADS Man-Portable Air-Defense Systems

MBFR Mutual and Balanced Force Reductions Talks

NACC North Atlantic Cooperation Council
NATO North Atlantic Treaty Organization
New START New Strategic Arms Reduction Treaty
NGO Non-Governmental Organization

NRC NATO-Russia Council

NSNW Non-Strategic Nuclear Weapons NTM National-Technical Means

ODIHR Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights
OSCE Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe

OSCC Open Skies Consultative Commission

PC Political Committee (of NATO)
PD Prisoners' Dilemma

PD Prisoners' Dilemma PfP Partnership for Peace

PJC NATO-Russia Permanent Joint Council PMSC Political-Military Steering Committee

POL-MIL Political-Military

PPP Purchasing Power Parity
R&D Research and Development

REACT Rapid Expert Assistance and Co-operation Teams

SALT Strategic Arms Limitation Talks
SALW Small Arms and Light Weapons

SC Security Community
SG Secretary General

SMM OSCE Special Monitoring Mission to Ukraine

SORT Strategic Offensive Reductions Treaty

TFT Tit-For-Tat

TLE Treaty-Limited Equipment

TUR Turkey

UK United Kingdom

U.S. United States of America

USSR Union of Socialist Soviet Republics

VD Vienna Document

WEU Western European Union
WMD Weapons of Mass Destruction
WTO Warsaw Treaty Organization

List of Charts and Tables

Charts

| 1 | Single-Shot Prisoners' Dilemma | 49 |
|----|---|-----|
| 2 | Realist Model for Understanding International Cooperation | 65 |
| 3 | Comparison of U.SSoviet Economic Capabilities | |
| | in GNP/GDP, 1973-1989 | 71 |
| 4 | Comparison of National U.SSoviet and NATO-WTO | |
| | Combined Defense Budgets, 1973-1989 | 72 |
| 5 | Comparison of National U.SSoviet and NATO-WTO | |
| | Combined Total Armed Forces, 1973-1989 | 73 |
| 6 | Comparison of National U.SSoviet and NATO-WTO | |
| | Combined Size of Population, 1973-1989 | 74 |
| 7 | Comparison of National U.SSoviet and NATO-WTO | |
| | Combined Size of Territory, 1973-1989 | 75 |
| 8 | Comparison of U.SSoviet/Russian Economic Capabilities | |
| | in GDP, 1990-1994 | 85 |
| 9 | Comparison of National U.SSoviet/Russian and NATO- | |
| | WTO/CST Combined Defense Budgets, 1990-1994 | 86 |
| 10 | Comparison of National U.SSoviet/Russian and NATO- | |
| | WTO/CST Combined Total Armed Forces, 1990-1994 | 87 |
| 11 | Comparison of National U.SSoviet/Russian and NATO- | |
| | WTO/CST Combined Size of Population, 1990-1994 | 88 |
| 12 | Comparison of National U.SSoviet/Russian and NATO- | |
| | WTO/CST Combined Size of Territory, 1990-1994 | 88 |
| 13 | Comparison of U.SRussian Economic Capabilities | |
| | in GDP, 1995-1999 | 98 |
| 14 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Defense Budgets, 1995-1999 | 99 |
| 15 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Total Armed Forces, 1995-1999 | 100 |
| 16 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Size of Population, 1995-1999 | 100 |
| 17 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Size of Territory, 1995-1999 | 101 |
| 18 | Comparison of U.SRussian Economic Capabilities | |
| | in GDP, 2000-2008 | 112 |
| 19 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Defense Budgets, 2000-2008 | 113 |
| 20 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Total Armed Forces, 2000-2008 | 114 |

| 21 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
|-----|---|-----|
| | Combined Size of Population, 2000-2008 | 115 |
| 22 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Size of Territory, 2000-2008 | 115 |
| 23 | Comparison of U.SRussian Economic Capabilities in GDP, | |
| | 2009-2011 | 122 |
| 24 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Defense Budgets, 2009-2011 | 123 |
| 25 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Total Armed Forces, 2009-2011 | 123 |
| 26 | Comparison of U.SRussian Economic Capabilities | |
| | in GDP, 2012-2013 | 131 |
| 27 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Defense Budgets, 2012-2013 | 132 |
| 28 | Comparison of National U.SRussian and NATO-CST | |
| | Combined Total Armed Forces, 2012-2014 | 133 |
| 29 | Trend Analysis of U.SSoviet/Russian Economic | |
| | Capabilities in GDP Development, 1973-2013 | 138 |
| 30 | Trend Analysis of National U.SSoviet/Russian and NATO- | |
| | WTO/CST Combined Defense Budget Development, 1973-2013 | 139 |
| 31 | Trend Analysis of National U.SSoviet/Russian and NATO- | |
| | WTO/CST Combined Total Armed Forces Development, | |
| | 1973-2014 | 140 |
| 32 | Trend Analysis of National U.SSoviet/Russian and NATO- | |
| | WTO/CST Combined Size of Population Development, | |
| | 1973-2014 | 141 |
| 33 | Trend Analysis of National U.SSoviet/Russian and NATO- | |
| | WTO/CST Combined Size of Territory Development, | |
| | 1973-2014 | 142 |
| 34 | Polynomic Trend of Institutionalization (New Agreements | 2.4 |
| 2.5 | Concluded per Year), 1975-2014 | 244 |
| 35 | Indicators of Regime Decay: Trend Dynamics 1975-2014 | 244 |
| 36 | The Regime Complex of Cooperative Arms Control in Europe | 255 |
| 37 | Cooperative Arms Control in Europe: Non-Compliance | 250 |
| 20 | Dynamics H.G. G. Living T. G. Control D. Living T. G. (1996) | 259 |
| 38 | U.SSoviet/Russian Contested Politics under C/OSCE | 200 |
| 20 | Framework: Trend Dynamics 1990-2013 | 305 |
| 39 | Reference to Key Principles and Norms at Different Levels | 200 |
| 10 | with Different Outcomes | 309 |
| 40 | Institutionalized Cooperation in a Continuum | 314 |
| 41 | Opposing Poles Stretching Complexity Texture | 328 |

Tables

| 1 | Aims and Means of the Concept of Cooperative Security | 31 |
|----|---|-----|
| 2 | Cooperation Strategies | 62 |
| 3 | U.SSoviet Cooperation on MBFR, Helsinki CSCE, and CDE | 80 |
| 4 | U.SSoviet/Russian Cooperation on CFE, CSCE, | |
| | NATO, and CSBMs | 94 |
| 5 | U.SRussian Cooperation on CFE Adaptation, Further OSCE | |
| | Adaptation, NATO-Russia Founding Act, and Balkans Arms | |
| | Control Framework | 107 |
| 6 | U.SRussian Cooperation on the Establishment of the NRC | 118 |
| 7 | U.SRussian Cooperation on the CFE Talks "at 36" | |
| | and the Corfu Process | 128 |
| 8 | Cooperation Cluster of Conventional Arms Control | 149 |
| 9 | Cooperation Cluster of CSBMs under the Auspices of the | |
| | C/OSCE | 150 |
| 10 | Cooperation Cluster of Political-Military Cooperation | |
| | under the Auspices of NATO | 150 |
| 11 | Cooperation Cluster of Sub-Regional Arms Control | |
| | for the Balkans | 151 |
| 12 | Preliminary Findings Pertaining to Decay | 153 |
| 13 | Definitions of Regime (and Regime Complexes) | 174 |
| 14 | Explanations for Regime Creation and Maintenance | 176 |
| 15 | Thirteen Indicators of Regime Decay | 181 |
| 16 | Negative Effects of Complexity | 182 |
| 17 | Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe Final | |
| | Act, Helsinki 1975: Questions relating to Security in Europe, | |
| | Declaration on Principles Guiding Relations between | |
| | Participating States | 186 |
| 18 | Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe | |
| | Final Act, Helsinki 1975: Questions relating to Security in | |
| | Europe, Document on confidence-building measures and | |
| | certain aspects of security and disarmament | 188 |
| 19 | Document of the Stockholm Conference on Confidence- | |
| | and Security-Building Measures and Disarmament in | |
| | Europe Convened in Accordance With the Relevant | |
| | Provisions of the Concluding Document of the Madrid | |
| | Meeting of the Conference on Security and Cooperation | |
| | in Europe, 1984-1986 | 189 |
| 20 | Evaluation of Period 1973-1989 | 191 |
| 21 | Charter of Paris for a New Europe, 1990 | 192 |

| 22 | Vienna Document 1990 of the Negotiations on Confidence- | |
|----|---|-----|
| | and Security-Building Measures Convened in Accordance | |
| | with the Relevant Provisions of the Concluding Document | |
| | of the Vienna Meeting of the CSCE | 193 |
| 23 | Treaty on Conventional Armed Forces in Europe, 1990 | 194 |
| 24 | North Atlantic Cooperation Council Statement on Dialogue, | |
| | Partnership and Cooperation, 1991 | 196 |
| 25 | Vienna Document 1992 of the Negotiations on Confidence- | |
| | and Security-Building Measures Convened in Accordance | |
| | with the Relevant Provisions of the Concluding Document | |
| | of the Vienna Meeting of the CSCE | 197 |
| 26 | Treaty on Open Skies, 1992 | 198 |
| 27 | Concluding Act of the Negotiation on Personnel Strength | |
| | of Conventional Armed Forces in Europe, 1992 | 199 |
| 28 | Section V "CSCE Forum for Security Cooperation", | |
| | Helsinki Document 1992 | 201 |
| 29 | Programme for immediate action, Helsinki Document 1992 | 202 |
| 30 | Programme for Immediate Action Series, No. 1: | |
| | Programme of Military Contacts and Co-operation, 1993 | 203 |
| 31 | Programme for Immediate Action Series, No. 2: Stabilizing | |
| | Measures for Localized Crisis Situations, 1993 | 204 |
| 32 | Programme for Immediate Action Series, No. 3: Principles | |
| | Governing Conventional Arms Transfers, 1993 | 205 |
| 33 | Programme for Immediate Action Series, No. 4: | |
| | Defence Planning, 1993 | 206 |
| 34 | Programme for Immediate Action Series, No. 5: Global | |
| | Exchange of Military Information, 1994 | 207 |
| 35 | Programme for Immediate Action Series, No. 6: Vienna | |
| | Document 1994 of the Negotiations on Confidence- and | |
| | Security-Building Measures, 1994 | 208 |
| 36 | Programme for Immediate Action Series, No. 7: Code of | |
| | Conduct on Politico-Military Aspects of Security, 1994 | 209 |
| 37 | Programme for Immediate Action Series, No. 8: Principles | |
| | Governing Non-Proliferation, 1994 | 211 |
| 38 | Partnership for Peace: Framework Document and | |
| | Invitation Document, 1994 | 212 |
| 39 | Evaluation of Period 1990-1994 | 213 |
| 40 | A Framework for Arms Control, Lisbon Document, 1996 | 214 |
| 41 | Agreement on Confidence- and Security-Building | |
| | Measures in Bosnia and Herzegovina, 1996 | 216 |
| 42 | Agreement on Sub-Regional Arms Control, Article IV, 1996 | 217 |
| 43 | Founding Act on Mutual Relations, Cooperation and | |
| | Security between NATO and the Russian Federation, 1997 | 219 |
| 44 | Basic Document of the Euro-Atlantic Partnership Council, 1997 | 221 |

| 45 | Agreement on Adaptation of the Treaty on Conventional | |
|----|--|-----|
| | Armed Forces in Europe, 1999 | 222 |
| 46 | Vienna Document 1999 on the Negotiations on Confidence- and | |
| | Security-Building Measures, Istanbul Document, 1999 | 224 |
| 47 | Operational Document - the Platform for Co-operative | |
| | Security, Istanbul Document, 1999 | 225 |
| 48 | Charter for European Security, 1999 | 227 |
| 49 | Evaluation of Period 1995-1999 | 228 |
| 50 | OSCE Document on Small Arms and Light Weapons, 2000 | 229 |
| 51 | Concluding Document of the Negotiations Under Article V | |
| | of Annex 1-B of the General Framework Agreement for | |
| | Peace in Bosnia and Herzegovina, 2001 | 231 |
| 52 | NATO-Russia Relations: A New Quality, Declaration by | |
| | Heads of State and Government of NATO Member States | |
| | and the Russian Federation, 2002 | 232 |
| 53 | OSCE Strategy to Address Threats to Security and Stability | |
| | in the Twenty-First Century, 2003 | 234 |
| 54 | OSCE Document on Stockpiles of Conventional Ammunition, | |
| | 2003 | 235 |
| 55 | Vienna Document 2011 on Confidence- and Security-Building | |
| | Measures, 2011 | 236 |
| 56 | Evaluation of Period 2000-2014 | 238 |
| 57 | Shared Key Principles and Norms of the 31 Agreements | |
| | Assessed | 249 |
| 58 | Cooperative Arms Control in Europe: Forms of Regime | |
| | Interaction | 253 |
| 59 | Cooperative Arms Control in Europe: Assessing Indicators | |
| | of Regime Decay | 257 |
| 60 | Soviet Union, Assessment of Statement, Paris, 1990 | 268 |
| 61 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Paris, 1990 | 269 |
| 62 | Soviet Union, Assessment of Statement, Berlin, 1991 | 269 |
| 63 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Berlin, 1991 | 270 |
| 64 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Prague, 1992 | 270 |
| 65 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Prague, 1992 | 271 |
| 66 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Helsinki, 1992 | 272 |
| 67 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Helsinki, 1992 | 272 |
| 68 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Stockholm, 1992 | 273 |
| 69 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Stockholm, 1992 | 273 |
| 70 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Rome, 1993 | 274 |
| 71 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Budapest, 1994 | 274 |
| 72 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Budapest, 1994 | 275 |
| 73 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Budapest, 1995 | 276 |
| 74 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Budapest, 1995 | 276 |
| 75 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Lisbon, 1996 | 277 |

| 76 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Lisbon, 1996 | 278 |
|-----|---|-----|
| 77 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Oslo, 1998 | 278 |
| 78 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Oslo, 1998 | 279 |
| 79 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Istanbul, 1999 | 280 |
| 80 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Istanbul, 1999 | 280 |
| 81 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Vienna, 2000 | 281 |
| 82 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Vienna, 2000 | 281 |
| 83 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Bucharest, 2001 | 282 |
| 84 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Bucharest, 2001 | 282 |
| 85 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Porto, 2002 | 283 |
| 86 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Porto, 2002 | 284 |
| 87 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Maastricht, 2003 | 284 |
| 88 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Maastricht, 2003 | 285 |
| 89 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Sofia, 2004 | 286 |
| 90 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Sofia, 2004 | 286 |
| 91 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Ljubljana, 2005 | 287 |
| 92 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Ljubljana, 2005 | 288 |
| 93 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Brussels, 2006 | 288 |
| 94 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Brussels, 2006 | 289 |
| 95 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Madrid, 2007 | 290 |
| 96 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Madrid, 2007 | 290 |
| 97 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Helsinki, 2008 | 291 |
| 98 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Helsinki, 2008 | 292 |
| 99 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Athens, 2009 | 292 |
| 100 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Athens, 2009 | 293 |
| 101 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Astana, 2010 | 294 |
| 102 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Astana, 2010 | 294 |
| 103 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Vilnius, 2011 | 295 |
| 104 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Vilnius, 2011 | 296 |
| 105 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Dublin, 2012 | 296 |
| 106 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Dublin, 2012 | 297 |
| 107 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Kyiv, 2013 | 298 |
| 108 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Kyiv, 2013 | 298 |
| 109 | Russian Federation, Assessment of Statement, Basel, 2014 | 299 |
| 110 | United States, Assessment of Statement, Basel, 2014 | 300 |
| 111 | Assessment of Statements: Key Principles and Norms | |
| | Mentioned | 301 |
| 112 | Assessment of Statements: Top 15 General Policy Topics | 303 |

Prologue

A chilly eastward wind crept through the streets of Manhattan. It had drizzled since the early hours. New York's hectic aura was only about to unfold on this Wednesday morning. A still young-looking man climbed the stairs of the United Nations Headquarters. Even though he was not as young anymore as he appeared to be on television – he would soon turn 58 – his moves were still energetic. Surrounded by a bunch of people, security guards and various broadcast teams, his thoughts remained focused on the first sentences he was about to deliver to the General Assembly. Until the very morning hours he had been pondering the weight his words would carry. He was certain that the coming weeks would change the course of history. Though, an awkward feeling which kept him awake at night made him shiver when imagining the future. He was not sure what the future would hold for him and his people. Only two events of comparable magnitude had come to mind when he was writing his speech.

A few minutes later, routine had gained the upper hand. The golden quadrangle behind his back, some hundred eagerly looking eyes before the podium, he started to formulate the first words that would set the scene; the words which would make the audience aware that a historic moment was about to unfold. 'Two great revolutions, the French revolution of 1789 and the Russian revolution of 1917, have exerted a powerful influence on the actual nature of the historical process and radically changed the course of world events.' He paused. From now on, nothing would be the same anymore...

That day – December 7, 1988 – the man by the name of Mikhail Sergeyevich Gorbachev announced that the Soviet Union would reduce its military presence in Eastern Europe by half a million soldiers. Considerable numbers of tanks and other conventional arms would be withdrawn in the years to come. The world held its breath. What had been unthinkable for decades was about to happen in a blink: the Soviet retreat from Eastern Europe.

Probably more than any other event in the following years, that cold December morning marked the beginning of the end of the Cold War. It was the irreversible sign that the politics of *Glasnost* and *Perestroika* had become reality. It was the moment Moscow relinquished its trump card in the military standoff with NATO. It was the signal for the other Warsaw Pact members that the Kremlin would not constrain their foreign and security policy choices the way it did in the past.

The subsequent years would see the fall of the Berlin Wall, a reunited Germany, and the break-up of both the Warsaw Pact and the Soviet Union. Gorbachev's initiative would pave the way for a comprehensive treaty on the conventional military equipment of both blocs, resulting in the largest dis-

armament initiative of all times. Based on the mutual reduction of arms, a new system of cooperative security in Europe emerged. Diplomats from the East and the West, for years trapped in ideological trench warfare, now rushed to the various negotiation tables to elaborate a dense network of interlocking agreements, designed to cement the new understanding and to avert a relapse into old confrontational times. The 1990 Charter of Paris of the CSCE stated with overt enthusiasm, 'ours is a time for fulfilling the hopes and expectations our peoples have cherished for decades: steadfast commitment to democracy based on human rights and fundamental freedoms; prosperity through economic liberty and social justice; and equal security for all our countries.' Centuries of bloodshed in Europe seemed to end within a few years only. The future promised security through partnership and cooperation.

Almost 20 years later, in 2007, the same Mikhail Gorbachev – now an old and disenchanted pariah to his own people – applauded the Kremlin's leaders for their decision to give up on the CFE Treaty. 'It would be absolutely illogical for Russia to be the only state to abide by the treaty and for others not to even ratify it', he noted. The preceding years had seen the rise of American unipolarity, the sellout of Russian greatness followed by an economic recovery under the autocratic Vladimir Putin, and the slow erosion of the system of cooperative security in Europe.

Only a few months after the end of CFE, Russian troops crossed the border to the former Soviet Republic of Georgia. The five-day battle was the first international war between two recognized states on geographical Europe after the surrender of Nazi Germany. During the early hours of the Russian campaign, a hawkish U.S. Secretary of Defense seriously weighed the option of limited air strikes against the advancing Russian tanks. What seemed to be a long-gone specter of the past was in a sudden a conceivable scenario: a potential military standoff between Russia and an enlarged NATO.

While those five days seemed to be an unexpected "historical hick-up", a sudden relapse, owed to the complicated settings in the South Caucasus and not intended to significantly change Europe's security, the Russian incursion into Georgian territory turned out to be the writing on the wall that the West and Russia were again drifting apart. In March 2014, in a breathtaking coup of Machiavellian impudence, Vladimir Putin ordered the annexation of Crimea to halt Western influence in what the Kremlin sees as part of its *Near Abroad*. Shocked by the events, Western policy-makers slowly realized that there was no positive engagement strategy left in their dealings with Russia anymore. Belligerent language followed belligerent action and sanctions followed the unlawful presence of Russian soldiers on what was Ukrainian soil for the past 22 years. A quarter of a century after Gorbachev's bold speech, West-Russian relations had hit rock bottom.

What went wrong? What happened to the enthusiasm that had inspired leaders in the East and the West? And why was the neatly established system

of cooperative arms control agreements in Europe incapable of impeding the return to confrontation? Traces to the answers are spread across three continents and three generations of political leaders. Some of them date even back to a past long before the cold and rainy Manhattan winter day.

1 Introduction

For more than a decade now, Europe's once unique security institutions are in decay. (Cf. for example Dunay 2008; Steinmeier 2008; Euro-Atlantic Security Initiative 2012; Mützenich and Karádi 2013) To different degrees, this development affects almost all institutions under the rubric of cooperative security. In particular, the realm of cooperative arms control is negatively affected.

Significant legally and politically binding arms control agreements under the auspices of the Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE) are either stagnating, deadlocked, or in retreat. The most prominent example is the Conventional Armed Forces in Europe Treaty (CFE). OSCE participating States remain unable or unwilling to successfully overcome the deadlock in arms control institutions. Mirroring this development, cooperative security institutions between the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) and the Russian Federation have largely ceased to function. With the war in Ukraine ongoing, prospects for reversing this trend are rather low for the moment.

The rise and fall of cooperative arms control in Europe raises the question, why its institutions are eroding. Unfortunately, scholarly research on the issue is incomplete. On the one hand, scholars have failed to pay long-term attention to the volatile evolution of cooperative security institutions. On the other hand, they missed to comprehensively link institutional decay to the general foreign and security policies of the main actors involved. As a result, previous research has either concentrated on issue-specific institutions, while leaving out the conundrum why the broader schemes behind institutionalized cooperation changed over time, or it has focused on the broader politics while ignoring the issue-specificity of relevant institutions.

The rise and fall of cooperative arms control in Europe is therefore a promising research subject to analyze the volatility of institutionalized cooperation between the West and Russia, both from a theoretical and a policy-oriented angle. By concentrating on the establishment, maintenance, and decay of institutionalized cooperation in this specific sphere of Euro-Atlantic security, common interests, divergent interpretations, and critical structural changes come to the fore. Understanding the volatile process of institutionalization of cooperative arms control in Europe will not provide a blueprint for taking on current and future challenges. However, it could help to avoid repeating those policies that led to its current state of decay.

1.1 Focus of the Book

This book analyzes the policies of cooperative arms control in Europe and their institutionalization from 1973 to 2014, the year of Russia's illegal annexation of Crimea. It tries to explain not only the rise but also the fall of cooperative arms control by examining what forms of institutions compose cooperative arms control in Europe, and why those institutions are in decay. Its focus is on institutions established between 1973 and 2014 with the aim of reducing the potential for military conflict between a number of actors: (1) between the United States and NATO on the one hand and the Soviet Union/The Russian Federation and the Warsaw Treaty Organization (WTO)/the Collective Security Treaty (CST) on the other; (2) between NATO and the post-Soviet states; and (3) amongst OSCE participating States. Special emphasis is placed on the respective politics under the auspices of the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe (CSCE) and its successor the OSCE as well as under the NATO-Russia framework. Intra-alliance arrangements of NATO, the coordinating politics of the Common Foreign and Security Policy of the European Union (EU), the Western European Union (WEU), or bilateral U.S.-Russian arms control arrangements from the realm of weapons of mass destruction (WMD) are not part of the analysis.

Within this sphere of multilateral politics, special emphasis is put on two actors: the United States and the Soviet Union/the Russian Federation. This focus is due to the quasi-hegemonic roles both held during the Cold War (cf. Leffler and Westad 2010), the United States' quasi-hegemonic position in post-Cold War NATO (Rauchhaus 2000: 175), and Russia's national identity as the prime successor to the Soviet Union. (Cf. also Aggarwal 2000: 71)

Indeed, the politics of cooperative arms control in Europe are neither exclusively shaped by these two actors nor are their foreign and security policies identical with or limited to cooperative arms control in Europe. While further research is needed to fully understand the multilateral dimension of the evolution of cooperative arms control in Europe, concentrating on those two states that helped to substantially shape it is beneficial from a structural point of view. As McKenzie and Loedel (1998b: 8) have put it, 'the United States and Russia remain the key states in determining the outcome of the debate over European security: the United States as the only power with a global reach; Russia because of its ability to threaten its neighbors and to thwart attempts at institutional change.'

1.2 Why Focus on Cooperative Arms Control in Europe?

Five fundamental reasons speak for focusing on the rise and fall of cooperative arms control in Europe. The first reason is a *lack of comprehensiveness* in current research. Analysts and researchers have not provided a complete

picture of the volatility of institutionalization, including establishment, maintenance, and decay of institutions. At the same time, exclusive foci on specific institutions, such as the CFE Treaty (cf. Zellner, Schmidt, and Neuneck 2009), the OSCE (cf. Ghébali and Warner 2006), or NATO (cf. Pouliot 2010), prevail. Analysis of institutional overlap is underrepresented. No multi-level holistic approach on cooperative arms control in Europe exists so far.

The second reason is a *lack of theoretical research*. Current and past research has often avoided grounding issue-specific analysis in sound theoretical analysis. While early scholars of arms control have applied clear-cut theories in support of their analysis (cf. Schelling and Halperin 1961), current arms control research often tends either to overemphasize purely policydriven approaches (cf. exemplary Andreasen and Williams 2011) or uses approaches that lack a well-researched and reasonable combination of theory and research issue (cf. exemplary Durkalec, Kearns, and Kulesa 2013: 9-10; for a good exception from the rule see Mutschler 2013). In turn, theoretical research of IR scholars has largely evaded the topic of arms control since the end of the Cold War. No sound scholarly research on the rise and fall of cooperative arms control in Europe exists so far.

The third reason is a *lax use of terminology*. Researchers, political analysts, and decision-makers often employ terminology from the theoretical concept of *regime* (for an analysis of the concept see Chapter 4) when referring to cooperative arms control in Europe without any proof that it really suits their requirement, both from a conceptual point of view and with respect to the topicality of the theoretical concept as such. No genuine research has either verified or falsified the regime claim in relation to the issue. The reasons behind this shortcoming are a general shrinking interest in theoretical research on arms control (cf. opening remarks by Alexei Arbatov, EU Non-Proliferation and Disarmament Conference 2014) and a specific lack of originality in conjunction with the issue.

The fourth reason is a *lack of research on regime decay*. As earlier said, cooperative arms control is now in decay. Directly deriving from the lack of comprehensiveness in current research on the issue is the fact that researchers are struggling to explain institutional decay, both from a more narrow issue-specific and from a broader theoretical perspective. Issue-specific research either remains with descriptions of the current problems (cf. exemplary Zellner 2012) or approaches the wider spectra of U.S.-Russian relations without going into the cumbersome procedure of searching for the reasons behind its poor state (cf. exemplary Walt 2014). Theoretical research based on the regime episteme has a somewhat different problem. Decay is simply not an equally represented part of regime scholars' research agenda. The result is an incomplete picture. So far, studies about the reasons for regime decay are underrepresented.

The fifth reason is the *topicality of the issue*. Policy-makers, researchers, and analysts alike agree that the decay of cooperative arms control in Europe is a severe problem for the continent's security (cf. exemplary Sikorski, Westerwelle, and Sovndal 2013). The Ukraine conflict has only helped to make the pre-existing problems even more pressing (cf. Ischinger, Pifer, and Zagorski 2014). However, future-oriented policy analysis based on sound theoretical research on the issue and designed to address the unraveling of institutions is absent. Issue-specific and theoretical lack of research will not alter this shortcoming. A comprehensive and theory-based approach might help to shed light on long-term policies that led to the current state. It might also help to formulate alternative policy concepts.

1.3 Shortcomings of Previous Research

When analyzing previous research on the issue, three important shortcomings come to the fore. (1) Previous research lacks a commonly agreed terminology when referring to the institutions of cooperative arms control in Europe. Without a commonly agreed terminology, actors might not know whether they talk about the same issues. (2) With regards to institutions, scholars often employ the regime terminology without any proof that the very institutions are in fact regimes. Furthermore, their applications of definitions are often imprecise and contradictory. Without proof, definitions become irrelevant. (3) Theoretical works on the issue are either highly outdated or they pay considerably less attention to the fact of institutional decay. Without up to date research and a holistic approach to institutionalization, research remains incomplete.

1.3.1 Fuzzy Terminology

It is impossible to find a commonly agreed term in either scholarly research or everyday politics describing the very research subject at hand. Instead, diversity prevails. Often, architectural or artisan paraphrases are employed to describe institutionalization. Already in 1994, Walker (p. 13) issued a warning that 'the talk of security "architecture" is misleading; "patchwork" is a better metaphor for the plethora of shifting and overlapping experiments under way'. Particularly the term 'security architecture' features prominent in the literature (cf. Czempiel 1998: xi). The absence of clear terminology has opened up the doors for diverse interpretations. Whereas some speak of 'Euro-Atlantic security structures' (Zellner 2009: 18) or a 'full fabric of European security' (Gottemoeller 2008: 7), others refer to a 'multilayered security architecture that incorporates [...] NATO, EU, WEU, OSCE, and the CFE regime' (Auton 1998: 153).

With a view to the OSCE, Rupp and McKenzie (1998: 120) see 'a web of interlocking institutions in post-cold-war Europe'. During his first term in office, Federal Minister of Foreign Affairs Steinmeier (2009: 11) termed the result of 'the cooperative approach to arms control [...] a network of mutually supporting and complementary arms control agreements.' In addition, former German Ambassador Hartmann (2009: 54) describes a 'CFE system [...] complemented by a [...] network of confidence- and security-building measures'. Krause (2003: 1) dubs the post-Cold War European order simply a 'liberal peace'.

Fuzzy terminology is a problem for research because it opens the door to misunderstandings. How can participants in a scholarly debate know that they talk about the same issue without a common terminology?

1.3.2 Theoretical References without Evidence

When talking about the rise and fall of cooperative arms control in Europe, IR scholars have regularly referred to regime theory or at least its terminology without providing actual empirical evidence. Chung (2005: 187) classifies the OSCE as a 'security regime' based on the general assessment that 'regimes can have formal structures as well'. Zellner (2012: 15) refers to a 'European arms control regime' and the CFE Treaty as 'the regime's core' (Zellner 2009: 12) without elaborating a regime-analytical line of argument. Contradicting these assumption, in another article, he labels CFE itself a 'regime' (cf. Zellner 2010: 67). Auton (1998) views confidence- and security-building measures (CSBMs) and CFE as 'multilateral security regimes' without analyzing what their possible regime quality generates in terms of institutional interdependence. None of these authors nor any other author who uses the regime label with reference to cooperative arms control in Europe, has ever made the effort to embark on a sound regime-analytical line of analysis. Their observations are mere assumptions.

Theoretical references not backed up by evidence are a problem for academic credibility and for the potential cognitive effects such research generates. As Thomas Hobbes noted in *Leviathan*, the abuse of speech happens 'when men register their thoughts wrong, by the inconstancy of the signification of their words; by which they register for their conceptions that which they never conceived, and so deceive themselves.' They are also a problem for the possible consequences of issue-specific research. If the forms of the institutions of cooperative arms control in Europe deserve the regime label – as most IR scholars claim – than the decay of certain institutions, such as the CFE Treaty, might have different effects on other potential regimes or regime networks than perhaps anticipated by scholars so far.

1.3.3 Incomplete Theoretical Research

Terminological fuzziness and theoretical references not backed up by evidence have their roots in the lack of theoretical research on cooperative arms control in Europe. First, there are only a handful of studies on the research subject which rely on a sound theoretical basis at all. Second, of those few studies almost all employ regime theory. Other theoretical approaches are rare. Third, researchers have not analyzed the institutionalization of cooperative arms control in Europe over a longer period. Instead, the very few theoretical accounts are either incomplete or highly outdated.

Nye (1987: 392-3) sees the CSCE as a 'U.S.-Soviet security regime' and argues 'that at least a weak regime exists in Europe and that its broad principles and norms are the division of Germany, the legitimate role of the United States and the Soviet Union in European security, and mutually recognized spheres of concern. The implications and implementation of these principles are spelled out in various ways, including the Berlin agreements and the Final Act of the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe.'

Janice Stein (2003: 17, footnote 5) claims that the provisions of the 1986 Conference on Confidence- and Security-Building Measures and Disarmament in Europe (CDE) led to a 'limited security regime designed to build confidence in central Europe.' Efinger, Rittberger, and Zürn (1988: 174) conclude in late 1988 that the regime conduciveness in the realm of limitation of conventional armaments is 'presumably non-existent'. In a study on CSBMs, Rittberger, Efinger, and Mendler (1988: 28) admit that 'East-West relations have rarely been considered as a field for 'regime analyses.' They infer that an East-West CSBM regime exists as 'a stabilizing element in the still highly militarized security situation in Europe.' (Ibid: 30) In two other studies, Efinger (1989: 343-84; 1990: 117-50) traces the evolving CSBM regime back to the formative days of the Helsinki Final Act.

Without much further elaboration, Müller (1993a: 133-4) rates the Helsinki Final Act and the 1990 OSCE Charter of Paris as regimes that consolidate the territorial order in Europe and concludes that the policies of regulating military capabilities in Europe through means of CSBMs and CFE have reached a certain level of regime quality. In another account, he (Müller 1993b: 361) identifies a security regime in the realm of European military order, including 'INF Treaty, Stockholm/Paris agreements on confidence-building, CFE Treaty, 2+4 Treaty, practices such as doctrine seminars and mutual visits of military personnel, the Crisis Control Centre, and the recent mutual promises of unilateral reductions of short-range nuclear weapons'. Kelleher (1994: 318) sees an emerging 'cooperative security regime [...] in the Northern Hemisphere.' In the same account (ibid: 326) she refers to 'the intersecting regimes set in place under the CFE, the CSCE, and the Open Skies agreements in 1992.'

Ropers and Schlotter (1989) have contributed the most elaborate account of the 'negotiation system of the CSCE' so far. They conclude that the system has led to generate regimes of differing scope and quality, with the military realm of CSBMs being the most established (ibid: 333). Furthermore, they anchor the regime demand in the inability of the United States and the Soviet Union to establish all-European hegemony and in the subsequent bloc confrontation which underlined the need for regulating political, military, economic, and human issues. Through employing issue linkages within and outside the CSCE system, the two blocs were able to establish the CSCE as reinforcing processual institution. The CSCE in its entirety, they conclude, can be classified as a 'declaratory regime'. Schlotter (1999) views the evolution of CSBMs as the only full-fledged regime in the CSCE process.

Neuneck (1995) has contributed a novel approach towards one aspect of cooperative arms control in Europe by applying a Game Theory approach to conventional stability and arms control measures. His approach has a sound mathematical basis. The downturn is that it concentrates mostly on conventional forces stability and leaves out the wider political evolution which has shaped the process of conventional force limitations as well as the multitude of CSBMs in the C/OSCE framework beyond the Vienna Document (ibid: 228-59; see Annex II for a list of the relevant CSBMs).

Incomplete theoretical research is a problem for the arms control research agenda. The decay of cooperative arms control cannot be comprehensively explained without an encompassing and up-to-date approach based on a sound theoretical frame. Instead, approaches towards the research subject would have to rely on assumptions.

Summing up the three previous paragraphs, up-to-date and comprehensive theoretical accounts are missing. In addition, a common terminology based on sound theoretical research is absent. It is therefore important, first, to arrive at a clear definition of the research subject at hand.

1.4 Definitions of Key Terms

So far, this study has employed the term *cooperative arms control in Europe* without further elaboration. It is indeed important to explain its origin for two reasons: (1) in order to avoid repeating the mistake of the diverse and confusing use of terminology of previous research; and (2) because the term is a neologism¹ by the author – an attempt to unite the various terminological concepts under one definition.

¹ The term is not a mere translation of an earlier definition of arms control ('kooperative Rüstungssteuerung') provided by German Cold War scholars based in Hamburg (cf. von Baudissin and Lutz 1979: 5-6). In contrast, there is no stringent causal reference to nuclear deterrence.

Defining a subject of research should start with scrutinizing a number of concepts and definitions. Cooperative arms control in Europe appears within the issue-area of Euro-Atlantic cooperative security. The 'issue-area' itself should by no means be confused with the issue of cooperative arms control in Europe or the boundaries of a specific regime or a network of regimes (cf. Orsini, Morin, and Young 2013: 30).

1.4.1 Cooperative Security

The first term in need of definition is *cooperative security*. Cooperative security has been defined differently (cf. Mihalka 2005: 113-4). In this book, the concept of cooperative security is understood to include a number of central aspects: increasing *mutual* security and predictability by means of reciprocity, inclusiveness, dialogue, a defensive orientation, transparency, confidence-building, and arms limitations (cf. Carter, Perry, and Steinbruner 1992; Nolan 1994a,b; Mihalka 2005; Dewitt and Acharya 1996: 9-10; Jervis 1999). The aim of cooperative security is to generate interstate relations 'in which disputes are expected to occur, but they are expected to do so within the limits of agreed-upon norms and established procedures.' (Nolan 1994b: 5) Zartman provides an explanation of the just distribution of gains in security policy negotiations aimed at increasing mutual security. It captures well a basic definition of cooperative security:

Both negotiation and security policy are too often presented as tools for maximizing single party gain, when they should be presented as ways of maximizing two (or multi) party gain, jointly if possible, separately if necessary. Negotiations that provide something for everyone, or that trade off differentially valued goods, and security measures that provide security for all, or that tie my security to your security, are likely to lead to more favorable, stable, productive, and just results. (Zartman 1995: 892)

The politics of cooperative security in Europe have often been identified with the institution of the OSCE (cf. Krause 2003). Therefore, a large part of the analysis of this study will concentrate on policies achieved under the auspices of the OSCE and its predecessor, the CSCE. However, the focus here is not limited to this organization but instead tackles cooperative policies of NATO as well. This is particularly due to the fact that the different layers of security institutions and policies have come to increasingly overlap in the aftermath of the Cold War (cf. Flynn and Farrell 1999: 505). Bauwens et al (1994: 21) have thus argued that 'it is difficult to distinguish NATO's enlarged mandate

² Keohane (1984: 61) defines issue-areas as sets of issues that are 'dealt with in common negotiations and by the same, or closely coordinated, bureaucracies.' Ernst B. Haas (1980: 365) defines an issue-area as 'a recognized cluster of concerns involving interdependence not only among the parties but among the issues themselves.'

from the overall approach of the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe.'

The OSCE's approach to security is basically holistic (cf. Krause 2003). So is the concept of cooperative security. It encompasses "hard" security issues in the military realm, economic and environmental, as well as human security aspects. It does not stop with the legal concept of the sovereign nation state but views intrastate developments as well as transnational and transboundary threats as key factors affecting the security of others – that is states *and* the individual human being.

Even though the holistic approach of cooperative security together with the encompassing security approach of the OSCE is of particular importance for the argument of this book, only a certain spectrum – arms control – is under consideration. Hence, the concept of cooperative security rather serves as the normative background against which a particular set of arms control institutions and the policies directed to them are analyzed. The following table comprises the aims and means of the concept of cooperative security.

TABLE 1

AIMS AND MEANS OF THE CONCEPT OF COOPERATIVE SECURITY

| Aims | increasing mutual security and predictability |
|-------|--|
| Means | reciprocity inclusiveness dialogue-based defensive orientation transparency confidence-building arms limitations |

1.4.2 Arms Control

The second term in need of definition is *arms control*. Bull (1961: 4-5) sees 'peace through the manipulation of force' as the grand scheme under which to place the concept theoretically. In its most practical sense and in relation to the early period of the bipolar arms race, arms control's foremost objective was the prevention of (nuclear) war (cf. Schelling and Halperin 1961: 3; Bull 1961: 3-4).

Historically speaking, arms control in the bipolar context existed before the emergence of the paradigm of cooperative security during the 1970s.

However, the two became almost equated (cf. Dunn 2009: 175). Nolan (1994b: 5) concludes: 'at the practical level cooperative security seeks to devise agreed-upon measures to prevent war and to do so primarily by preventing the means for successful aggression from being assembled'. This quote reads almost like a description of the concept of arms control. Carter, Perry, and Steinbruner (1992: 6) refer to 'a commitment to regulate the size, technical composition, investment patterns, and operational practices of all military forces by mutual consent for mutual benefit.' Again, they do not refer to arms control but to cooperative security. These examples show how closely intertwined the two concepts are. Arms control has thus become an integral part or means of the "toolbox" of cooperative security. In recent years, the paths of the two concepts have somewhat drifted apart with arms control being questioned particularly in the United States (cf. Larsen 2009: 11 et seq) and cooperative security seen mostly through the prism of Constructivist theory (cf. Müller and Wunderlich 2013). In this book, a rather broad definition of arms control is used. Arms control is understood to be

any agreement among states to regulate some aspect of their military capability or potential. The agreement may apply to the location, amount, readiness, or types of military forces, weapons, or facilities. Whatever their scope or terms, however, all plans for arms control have one common factor: they presuppose some form of cooperation or joint action among participants regarding their military programs. (Larsen 2009: 1)

Military-to-military contacts, military exchange programs, and the democratic control of forces, usually subsumed under the headline of CSBMs³, are all part of this definition. In this sense, arms control 'should be thought of as encompassing all aspects of the military dimension' in order 'to prevent conflicts within states as well as between them.' (Walker 1994: 6-7)

1.4.3 Europe

Europe is the third term in need of definition. The term as such resembles 'a concept as well as a continent, and the borders of both oscillate wildly.' (Jacobs 2012) In this book, Europe is neither used in purely geographical nor in cultural terms. It is a linguistic reference to a historical-political development.

As already stated, cooperative security in Europe has always been in close vicinity to the CSCE/OSCE. Zagorski (2010: 58) argues that the contemporary understanding of cooperative security should not be confused with the indivisibility of security from the early documents of the CSCE. Nevertheless, the post-Cold War approach towards cooperative security in Europe

³ For a discussion about the validity of distinguishing between arms control and CSBMs see Holst 1991and Wright 2000: 4-5.

can only be understood against the specific historical European background (cf. Krause 2003: 4).

As will be explained later, the politics and institutionalization of cooperative arms control in Europe took off shortly before and in parallel to the early CSCE framework. Even though the end of the Cold War triggered a fundamental shift in the political goals pursued and in the composition of parties to a number of agreements and organizations, the historical provenance of the concept of cooperative arms control in Europe is European. This book argues, however, that the concept is not limited to the OSCE but stretches across a densely institutionalized area, including NATO, and involving 56 states from Vancouver to Vladivostok.

Hence, this book is not about regionalism. Snyder (2012b: 312) defines regions as 'groupings of states that share either geographic proximity or have sufficient cultural/historic ties that bind them together.' In the vast OSCE area, stretching across three continents, this is not the case, neither from a cultural nor from a geographical point of view.

1.4.4 Cooperative Arms Control in Europe

The result of these observations is the novel term of *cooperative arms control in Europe*. It shall serve the purpose of combining cooperative security and arms control in a specific European historical-political setting. Cooperative arms control is not simply a merger of two already closely connected concepts (i.e. cooperative security and arms control). It is also not a reference to the earlier German definitions of arms control. Instead, it is an attempt to link institutionalization in a specific sphere of arms control to a strongly normative concept of European origin.

1.4.5 Institutions and Regimes

So far, this study has made continued references to *institutions* and *institutionalization*. As Thomas Risse (2002: 605) correctly noted, 'there are at least as many definitions of (international) institutions as there are theoretical perspectives'. The term *international institution* is often applied in IR to cover diverse social concepts such as treaties, organizations, regimes, or conventions. Duffield (2007) has addressed this terminological diversity by differentiating between ontological and functional forms of international institutions. Accordingly, ontological forms refer to intersubjective elements such as "norms". Functional forms refer to formal elements such as "rules". (Ibid: 8) Following his typology, regimes, in a general understanding, fall under ontological forms while agreements and formal IGOs fall under functional forms. (Ibid: 15) Throughout this book, these three types of international cooperative interaction – regimes, agreements, and IGOs (or IOs) – will be covered by the term institutions, while the process of their establish-

ment, maintenance, and, in a more general understanding, their evolution will be captured by the term institutionalization.

International institutions are in close vicinity to the theoretical concept of regime. Often, institutions are equated with regimes. Before this study will provide an analysis of the concept of regime, it will be important for the further research process to provide a first, though incomplete, definition of the concept.

Regimes can be defined as sets of implicit or explicit principles, norms, rules, and decision-making procedures around which actors' expectations converge in a given area of international relations. Principles are beliefs of fact, causation, and rectitude. Norms are standards of behavior defined in terms of rights and obligations. Rules are specific prescriptions or proscriptions for action. Decision-making procedures are prevailing practices for making and implementing collective choice. (Krasner 1982: 2)

1.5 The Theoretical Basis

Previous research has failed to comprehensively analyze what forms of institutions compose cooperative arms control in Europe and what their relationship is. As a consequence, decay has not been comprehensively explained. Possible reasons for decay which might have to do with the institutional form (e.g. linkages between regimes) remained unconsidered. Since cooperative arms control in Europe – the name already implies it – is based on international cooperation, IR approaches which analyze and explain international cooperation will provide the theoretical basis of this book. Different theories have tried to explain international institutionalized cooperation (cf. Schieder and Spindler 2010).

This study employs a multi-theory approach for explaining the rise and fall of cooperative arms control in Europe and the related foreign and security policies of the United States and the Soviet Union/Russia. Such an approach seems more promising for analyzing long-term cooperation than a singletheory approach, for IR's three grand theories put different emphases on the various aspects of cooperation and competition – all of them containing valuable insights (cf. Schieder and Spindler 2010). Realism, for instance, has always been skeptical with regard the durability of cooperation due to the constant competition states seemingly face. Regime theory, an offspring of Liberalism, has described how states cooperate using international institutions - however, mostly by focusing on trade and the environment while neglecting the realm of classical security policy (cf. Hasenclever, Mayer, and Rittberger 1997). Constructivism is particularly apt to explain cooperation taking into account the impact of cognitive repercussions such as emotions, knowledge or socially constructed images of oneself and "the other" (cf. Ross 2006).

This study relies particularly on Realism and regime theory. It combines these two theoretical approaches with the essentials of the concept of Security Communities, the English School, and Constructivist analyses of norm dynamics. Together, this multi-theory approach will provide the necessary broad analytical perspective on the rise and fall of cooperative arms control. This approach seems also particularly valuable given the long period covered by this study.

One alternative possibility to approach international cooperation would be the heuristic device of a Game Theoretical 2 x 2 matrix (cf. Mutschler 2013). However, examples of repeated and long-term cooperation involving different layers of cooperation and different situations would have to include a variety of multi super games with different payoff structures (cf. McGinnis 1986). Such real-world examples would be extremely difficult to model. In addition, explanations along the lines of a rational choice approach would most likely suffer from its overly static and rigid framing (cf. Hopmann and Druckman 1991: 273).

The following paragraphs will shortly highlight the five theoretical approaches chosen for this study.

1.5.1 Realism

Realism's skepticism towards international cooperation and its occupation with the impediments to successful cooperation provides the necessary critical basis, for the institutions of cooperative arms control in Europe are in fact in decay. Russia's foreign and security policy has regularly been characterized as following Realist rationales (cf. Mearsheimer 2014). Realism would thus be a good basis for better understanding contemporary Russian foreign and security policy (cf. Jonsson 2012: 450). Further on, the Ukraine conflict has triggered a revival of the Neoliberal vs. Neorealist debate amongst some U.S. scholars (see Mearsheimer 2014; McFaul, Sestanovich, and Mearsheimer 2014; Charap and Shapiro 2014a,b) about which U.S. and/or Russian foreign policy orientation (Liberal vs. Realist) is to blame for the conflict. Realism is therefore a very timely approach. In addition, Realism's occupation with conflict seems appropriate given the fact that the U.S.-Soviet/ Russian security relationship has undergone recurring periods of competition and conflict. Last but not least, the role of power remains central to understanding international cooperation (cf. Müller 2013).

1.5.2 Regime Theory

Regime theory makes for a reasonable approach due to the widespread recognition of cooperative arms control as either a single regime or as a network of interlinked regimes in both, the existing research literature and in official documents; even more so, because no research has ever proven the regime assumption. In addition, Realism is biased when it comes to international institutions and limited in its approach to explaining the persistence of international institutions, particularly in times of change or crisis. Regime theory simply provides more answers to this phenomenon. Beyond that, regime theory was an effort by Neoliberal scholars to bring the Neorealists on board in their effort to explain and accept international institutions. Regime theory thus builds on a number of distinct Realist assumptions and can be viewed as the Neoliberal "extension" to Neorealism (cf. Crawford 1996). Last but not least, regime theory can be applied as a method for classifying international institutions.

However, before we can speak of regimes when referring to cooperative arms control in Europe, the term regime will be handled with great care. Instead, the term *cooperation clusters* (Young 1996) shall be applied until the very form of institutions of cooperative arms control in Europe has been fully analyzed and clarified.

1.5.3 Security Communities, the English School, and Constructivist Analyses

Since decay is a prominent part of this study, particularly such theoretical approaches that also take account of the wider cooperation spectra which drive institutionalized cooperation might provide an additional basis for understanding the reasons for and effects of decay. As will be discussed later on, regime theorists have not comprehensively explained institutional decay. The consequences of this shortcoming make it necessary to look into other theoretical approaches explaining the volatility and, hence, the decay of international institutionalized cooperative efforts. Amongst them is the concept of Security Community, the English School, and Constructivist analyses of norm dynamics.

1.6 Methodology

This study applies mostly an inductive approach as outlined in Aristotle's *Nicomachean Ethics* (2008). It does not aim at theory building. Instead, it tries to either verify or falsify whether cooperative arms control in Europe can be characterized along the lines of the regime concept. This leads to instances of abductive analysis where inductive and deductive methods go hand in hand (cf. Daase et al 2008: 152).

The reason for this approach is rooted in the inadequate state of previous research. As already stated, a plethora of institutions under the broad rubric of cooperative arms control in Europe has already been labeled *regime* by various IR scholars. The diverse use of terminology and the lack of sound theoretical research has led to a cacophony of definitions. Of course, one

could simply describe the institutions and the phenomenon of decay empirically. However, that would mean that any theoretical insights going beyond the descriptive stage would be left out. As an example, certain institutions might share significant characteristics of the regime concept. If that would be the case, the decay of specific agreements such as CFE would have a stronger effect on other agreements which might be part of the same potential regime (see the effects of 'negative reverberation' described in Alter and Meunier 2009). Before any questions about institutional decay can be answered, it has to be either verified or falsified that the form of the institutions of cooperative arms control in Europe actually deserves the regime label.

The methodological approach chosen for this study proceeds in a number of sequential stages. First, a Realist model for understanding international cooperation is developed. Then, the empirics of 41 years of cooperative arms control in Europe are assessed and analyzed, using the Realist model. Next, the main findings and assumptions of regime scholars are introduced and applied in order to classify the empirics. That way it will be possible to test whether and which institutions of cooperative arms control in Europe deserve the regime label. Finally, the question shall be answered whether regime theory can produce meaningful results with regards decay or whether other theories of cooperation have more explanatory power.

1.6.1 A Realist Model of International Cooperation

First, a Realist model for understanding international cooperation will be developed in order to explain what international cooperation is and why it is so problematic from a Realist point of view. The model will consists of five variables determining a number of processual sequences of international cooperation. It has been developed by the author specifically for this study in order to assess repeated instances of U.S.-Soviet/Russian cooperation on cooperative arms control in Europe during the last 41 years. The model shall help to shed light on the origins and consequences of cooperation and institutionalization. Its application shall allow for assessing reasons for, strategies of, and states' evaluation of gains from cooperation. By highlighting these factors, a preliminary comparison with the essentials of regime theory shall become possible.

162 First Abductive Test

After comparing the empirical evidence with the main claims of regime scholars, Steven Krasner's (1982: 2) typology of regimes ('principles', 'norms', 'rules', and 'decision-making procedures') will be used as a model to qualitatively classify 36 agreements with direct relevance to cooperative arms control in Europe. Identifying possible shared principles and norms, this is to test whether the form of institutions deserves the regime label. Thus, a

final assessment about a potential regime quality of the institutions of cooperative arms control in Europe will become possible. In addition, regime scholars' findings about indicators of decay will be compared with the empirical evidence in order to assess whether the institutions of cooperative arms control in Europe display any such signs of decay. This test will be abductive, for it will combine the inductive process of extrapolating from potentially shared principles and norms to a general regime quality with the deductive process of extrapolating from general findings of regime scholars about decay to the specific state of certain institutions.

1.6.3 Second Abductive Test

Principles and norms are a significant part of regime theory. Their condition as regards topicality and relevance will then be analyzed in a second abductive test. As part of that second test, 51 statements by U.S. and Soviet/Russian delegations to the C/OSCE between 1990 and 2014 will be analyzed using quantitative and qualitative content analysis (cf. Krippendorff 1980) before being compared to twelve key principles and norms that shape cooperative arms control in Europe. That way, it should be possible to determine what principles and norms are still reflected in the statements, which ones are not reflected anymore, and what other general policy topics are on the two states' agendas. Thereby, potential additional reasons for the decay of cooperative arms control in Europe shall be highlighted. That second test is abductive as well since it combines the inductive process of extrapolating from the use of key principles and norms to a general assessment of their political relevance with the deductive process of extrapolating from general policy topics of the two states to the specific state of key principles and norms.

1.6.4 Comparison with Other Theories

Regime theory has a number of shortcomings, both from a conceptual as well as historical point of view. Additional approaches deriving from the theoretical concept of Security Communities, the English School, and Constructivist analyses of norm dynamics might help to broaden the regime concept in order to better explain the general volatility of international cooperation. Analyzing the empirics using those other theoretical approaches, a more holistic perspective, less exclusively bound to Realism and regime theory, shall be gained. That way, a hopefully complete picture of the reasons behind the rise and fall of cooperation on arms control in Europe will emerge.

2 International Cooperation from a Realist Viewpoint

This chapter is about international cooperation from a Realist point of view. Its main research question is: How do states, according to Realism, arrive at international cooperation and which factors complicate their efforts?

The aim of this chapter is to understand the problems associated with international cooperation. Different theoretical approaches try to explain and understand cooperation and the institutionalization of cooperation among states in an environment which lacks any central authority such as a world government. Among them is the Realist approach – the most cooperation-skeptical of all major IR theories. Realism has provided powerful arguments speaking against the probability of repeated, stable, and long-term cooperation, particularly in the realm of security. At the same time, Realism assumes a number of prerequisites which should be in place in order to achieve international cooperation. This chapter develops a novel model for understanding international cooperation from a Realist viewpoint. It shall help to understand and assess the policies of cooperative arms control in Europe.

2.1 Introductory Remarks

Before turning to Realism, one should first define cooperation. The Oxford Dictionary (Oxford University Press eds. 2014) defines *cooperation* as 'the action or process of working together to the same end'. Studying the behavior of animals, Clements and Stephens (1995: 527) define cooperation as 'joint action for mutual benefit'. Both definitions tell only little about the process other than that it is based on a reason and that it involves more than one entity engaged in a certain activity with at least another entity. The reason behind it, the nature of the entities, their activity, the surrounding environment, and their relationship towards the reason, towards their activity, towards each other, and towards the environment, remain a matter of speculation or, better, of definition and explanation.

Explaining international cooperation is not possible without first reflecting upon the nature of the entities and the environment in which international cooperation takes place. Since the Westphalian Peace, a particular system of sovereign nation states has developed, first in Europe and since the end of Colonialism also globally (cf. Reinhard 2009). Major elements of this system are states' sovereignty, the mutual recognition of sovereign equality, the non-interference in internal affairs of the nation state, diplomatic conduct amongst states, and war (cf. Bull 1977).

Ideally, the modern nation state has an internal monopoly of power which works to establish and uphold order. The domestic monopoly of power can have different forms. The most common forms during the last centuries were democracy, autocracy, monarchy, and oligarchy (cf. Hobsbawn 1992). No central authority (e.g. a world government) exists in the environment in which states operate. If they want to cooperate with each other, they have to find ways to deal with the consequences of the absence of a central authority. All major schools of IR thought recognize this fact to varying degrees. However, they treat the consequences for cooperation differently (cf. Baldwin 1993: 5). While Liberal and Constructivist theories view the absence of a central authority as a lesser impediment to international cooperation, Realism sees it as a major hindrance. So why apply Realism at this point?

First, this book is about institutional decay. Realism's skepticism towards successful cooperation seems therefore only appropriate to assess the interests and the cooperation strategies of the United States and the Soviet Union/Russia. In short, the 'who-gets-what' from cooperation (Strange 1982: 496) gets better addressed by Realism. Also, Realism underscores the impediments to successful cooperation. Concentrating on these impediments might help to explain institutional decay. Further on, Realism is not very prone to any form of normative enthusiasm about cooperation as such, often found in Neoliberal or early Constructivist accounts.

Second, Russia's foreign and security policy has regularly been characterized as following Realist rationales (cf. Jonsson 2012: 450). Thorun (2009) describes Putin's first term as President as 'pragmatic geo-economic realism' and his second term as 'cultural geopolitical realism'. Jonsson (2012: 450) views Russia's foreign and security policy as 'pragmatic, geopolitically focused, [and] realist rather than value-based'. In conjunction with the Ukraine crisis, John Mearsheimer (2014) has argued that Putin acts like a Realist and that Western politicians do not understand his political provenance anymore. German Chancellor Angela Merkel's reported comment to U.S. President Obama that Putin was living 'in another world' (quoted from Packer 2014) has been used to underscore this assumption (cf. Charap and Shapiro 2014b). Realism could thus provide a valuable basis for better understanding and explaining contemporary Russian foreign and security policy.

Third, the ongoing conflict between the West and Russia over Ukraine has triggered a revival of the Neoliberal vs. Neorealist debate amongst some U.S. scholars (see Mearsheimer 2014; McFaul, Sestanovich, and Mearsheimer 2014; Charap and Shapiro 2014a, b; Lipman 2014) about which U.S. and/or Russian foreign policy orientation (Liberal vs. Realist) is to blame for the conflict. A Realist approach appears quite timely from that angle.

Fourth, the U.S.-Soviet/Russian security relationship has undergone recurring periods of competition and conflict. Realism's occupation with explaining the roots of conflict provides a valuable basis to analyze the reasons behind these two states' competitive relationship.

Fifth, the role of power remains central to understanding instances of international cooperation (cf. Müller 2013). The dominant actors in world affairs – states – are still highly unequal in terms of military, economic, techno-

logical, or cultural capabilities and will remain so for the foreseeable future. Even though international institutions have constraining effects on states' behavior (see Drezner 2008), particularly powerful states do not shy away from giving preference to the unilateral employment of power once critical interests are at stake. The United States and the Soviet Union/Russia are particularly powerful states. At the same time, particularly with regards to interests, the constraining effects of international institutions are indeed visible in the form of learning effects, adjustment of interests to the interests of others, and the implication of norms on states' behavior (cf. Finnemore and Sikkink 1998). To say that international institutions do not matter at all in the process of international cooperation would be a misrepresentation of reality; however, they matter less than usually assumed by Neoliberals (cf. Mearsheimer 1994/95).

2.2 Realism and the Problem of International Cooperation

The long history of Realism starts with Thucydides' depiction of the *Peloponnesian War* (431-411 B.C.), was expanded at the end of the Middle Age by Niccolo Machiavelli's *Il Principe* (1513) and Thomas Hobbes *Leviathan* (1651), and re-emerged as one of the principle schools of IR theorizing with the end of World War II (cf. exemplary Carr 1939; Morgenthau 1954). Particularly two scholars of IR have shaped modern Realism: Hans Joachim Morgenthau with his seminal work *Politics Among Nations* and Kenneth Neal Waltz with his opus magnum *Theory of International Politics*. The former gets equated with what is called *Classical Realism*, the latter with *Neorealism* or *Structural Realism* (cf. Pashakhanlou 2009). Both authors share significant views; at the same time, their works show important differences.

As all Realists, Morgenthau and Waltz attempt to see the world as what it is and not what it ought to be (cf. Carr 1939: 5). Their approaches are an empirical rather than a normative paradigm (cf. Morgenthau 1954: 4). They also agree that states are operating in an environment of *anarchy* (cf. Waltz 1959: 224 et seq; Hoffmann 1965: 54 et seq) which lacks any central authority. The state of anarchy has strong features of the Hobbesian state of nature of homo homini lupus (cf. Waltz 1979: 102). It should, however, not become confused with anarchy in the sense of complete political disorder and lawlessness. Rather, anarchy in international affairs means 'a lack of common government in world politics' (Axelrod and Keohane 1986: 226). Morgen-

⁴ Art and Jervis (1992: 1) explain that 'international politics takes place in an arena that has no central governing body. No agency exists above individual states with authority and power to make laws and settle disputes. States can make commitments and treaties, but no sovereign power ensures compliance and punishes deviations. This – the absence of a supreme power – is what is meant by the anarchic environment of international politics.'

thau and Waltz concur that *states* are the principle actors in the environment of anarchy and that particularly powerful states have the most impact (Mearsheimer 2001: 17-8). Further on, it is the distribution of *power* which determines states' position in the environment of anarchy (cf. Morgenthau 1954: 31-7; Waltz 1979: 97-9). In addition, it is states' national *interest* and the constraining effects of anarchy which determine their behavior to act as *rational* egoists (cf. Morgenthau 1954: 5-12; Waltz 1979: 117). Realism assumes that it is rational for states to seek their individual advantage in an absolute and a relative understanding in order to avoid dependence on other states, or worst, their disappearance. Therewith, both agree that it is rational for states to seek *gains* (cf. ibid). However, they differ with regards to their definition of power and states' reasons for pursuing power.

For Morgenthau (1954: 5), 'international politics is the concept of interest defined in terms of power'. Power is 'anything that establishes and maintains the control of man over man.' (Ibid: 11) Aside from military power, Morgenthau also adds a moral stratum counting a nation's character, its morale, and the quality of governance as factors of power. (Ibid: 186) Waltz (1979: 131) infers that power derives from several factors which he summarizes under the term *capabilities*. Capabilities are the 'size of population and territory, resource endowment, economic capability, military strength, political stability and competence'. He adds that 'although power is a key concept in realist theory its proper definition remains a matter of controversy.' (Waltz 1986a: 333)

They also slightly differ with their reasoning why states seek power. According to Morgenthau (1954: 31), 'international politics, like all politics, is a struggle for power. Whatever the ultimate aims of international politics, power is always the immediate aim.' Morgenthau sees states' struggle for power primarily rooted in the nature of man (ibid: 4) and the inability of the anarchic system to constrain his, and thus states, desires. Morgenthau rests his theory on three images: the first image of the nature of man, the second image of the nature of nation states which he views as an extension to man's desires, and the third image of anarchy. Waltz puts greater emphasis on the third image and largely ignores the first. He sees primarily the structural causes of anarchy at work. Waltz (1979: 95) views states as 'the units whose interactions form the structure of international-political systems' and 'although capabilities are attributes of units, the distribution of capabilities across units is not. The distribution of capabilities is not a unit attribute, but rather a system-wide concept.' (Ibid: 98) The absence of a higher authority leads to a constant state of insecurity. In contrast to Morgenthau who sees a permanent struggle for power as states' prime interest, Waltz (1979: 126) views states as being less concerned with maximizing their power. 'States can seldom afford to make maximizing power their goal. International politics is too serious a business for that.' (Ibid: 127) Instead, 'states seek to ensure their survival.' (Ibid: 91; cf. also Mearsheimer 1994/95: 9) Since sur-